RECEIVED

11-15-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2015AP2525-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TYDIS TRINARD ODOM,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Certification from the Court of Appeals, District I, Reviewing the Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Timothy G. Dugan, Presiding, and the Order Denying Supplemental Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CARLY M. CUSACK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1096479

ISSUES PRESENTED

 Were the mandatory multiple DNA surcharges assessed upon Mr. Odom's convictions a punishment, such that the circuit court was required to establish his understanding of the surcharges, pursuant to *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986)?

The circuit court said no. (54:6-7; App.153-54).

The court of appeals certified this case to this Court. (App.101, 129).

2. Is Mr. Odom entitled to a *Bangert* hearing because the circuit court misadvised him about his eligibility for early-release programming?

The circuit court said no. (29:2-3; App.156-57)

The court of appeals certified this case to this Court. (App.101, 129).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court's decision to grant certification reflects that oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 15, 2014, Mr. Odom was charged by criminal complaint with two counts of second-degree sexual assault, one count of kidnapping, and one count of substantial battery. (2:1-2). At the initial appearance, Mr. Odom demanded a speedy trial. (33:10; 35:4-5). At the final pretrial conference, Mr. Odom's trial attorney informed the circuit court, the Honorable Timothy G. Dugan presiding, that

Mr. Odom intended to take his case to trial. (36:2). The circuit court requested that the State place its plea offer on the record in order to verify Mr. Odom's understanding of the offer. (36:2).

The State explained its offer: it would amend one of the two second-degree sexual assault counts to a third-degree sexual assault and dismiss and read in the other seconddegree sexual assault count and the kidnapping count. (36:3). Then, in exchange for Mr. Odom's guilty pleas to the substantial battery count as charged and the amended thirddegree sexual assault, the State would recommend four to five years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision on the third-degree sexual assault count. (36:3). On the battery count, the State would recommend one-and-ahalf years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision, concurrent to the other sentence. (36:3).

Mr. Odom rejected this offer, explaining that he wanted to go to trial:

THE COURT: Do you understand that's what they're offering?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. Yes.

THE COURT: And do you want to go to trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. And you don't want to accept any plea negotiations?

THE DEFENDANT: Not this one.

THE COURT: Okay. That is the only one they're making.

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: So if you don't want to accept it, the option is to go to trial, and I just want to make sure you know what they're offering and you're rejecting it, correct?

(36:5).

On the day of trial, the complaining witness did not appear, and the State made a new plea offer to Mr. Odom. (37:2-3; App.171-72). The terms of the new offer were as follows: Mr. Odom would plead to the substantial battery as charged, contrary to WIS. STAT. § 940.19(2), two counts of fourth-degree sexual assault, contrary to WIS. STAT. § 940.225(3m), and one count of false imprisonment, contrary to WIS. STAT. § 940.30. (37:3; App.172). In exchange for his pleas, the State would recommend leaving the sentence to the circuit court's discretion, and it would not file any witness intimidation charges, which the State indicated it was prepared to do, absent a plea deal. (37:3-5; App.172-74).

After the State explained its new offer, Mr. Odom expressed significant hesitation about accepting the offer:

THE COURT: All right. And, Mr. Odom, is that your understanding of what the State is offering at this time?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And do you want to accept that plea negotiation, or do you want to go to trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Can I talk to [my attorney]?

THE COURT: Briefly. You can turn off the microphone.

(There was a discussion off the record between the defendant and [his attorney]).

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I think I've answered all of his questions, Judge.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Odom, what do you want to do?

(There was a discussion off the record between the defendant and [his attorney]).

(37:5; App.174).

Mr. Odom then requested permission to ask the court "some questions about the plea." (37:5; App.174). He first asked the court to explain the maximum penalty the plea deal carried. (37:6; App.175). The circuit court explained the maximum penalties associated with his case as charged, compared to the maximum penalties if he chose to accept the plea offer. (37:6-8; App.175-77). Mr. Odom next asked the court whether his convictions could be expunged, and then asked the court about his eligibility for early-release programs:

THE DEFENDANT: Do people in sexual assault cases, are they eligible for boot camp or anything like that?

THE COURT: You could be eligible for boot camp and I believe for substance abuse. That again would determine—Court would have to look at all the factors. And I also have to have a substance abuse issue need to be addressed for both of those programs.

(37:8-9; App.177-78).

In answering Mr. Odom's last question about his eligibility for the Challenge Incarceration Program (colloquially known as "boot camp") or the Substance Abuse Program, the circuit court failed to recognize that Mr. Odom was statutorily ineligible for both programs, as all of his offenses were crimes specified in Chapter 940. *See* WIS. STAT. § 973.01(3g), (3m).

The court told Mr. Odom, "It's your choice. No one's here pressuring you. Do one or the other." (38:11; App.180). Two additional off-the-record discussion occurred between Mr. Odom and his attorney, who then informed the court that Mr. Odom had decided to accept the plea offer. (37:11-12; App.180-81).

The circuit court conducted a plea colloquy, and Mr. Odom pled no contest to the two counts of fourth-degree

sexual assault, and guilty to the false imprisonment and substantial battery counts. (37:20-21; App.189-90). During the plea colloquy, the circuit court established that Mr. Odom understood the maximum potential imprisonment terms and the fines for the offenses; however, the court did not inform Mr. Odom or otherwise ensure that he understood that he faced mandatory, per-conviction DNA surcharges totaling \$900 (two misdemeanors x \$200) + (two felonies x \$250). (37:13-15; App.182-84). *See* WIS. STAT. § 973.046(1r).

Mr. Odom was sentenced the next day. Pursuant to the plea agreement, the State did not recommend a specific sentence. (38:9; App.178). Defense counsel recommended a probationary term. (38:12; App.181). Defense counsel argued Mr. Odom, who was eighteen years old at the time of sentencing, had been exposed to "a lot of drug usage in the family" and that "he smoked marijuana a lot...as a teenager." (38:16; App.185). The court discussed various sentencing considerations and then imposed two concurrent sentences of nine months on each of the misdemeanor sexual assault counts¹; a consecutive sentence of three years' initial confinement and three years' extended supervision on the false imprisonment count; and another consecutive sentence of one-and-a-half years' initial confinement and two years' extended supervision on the battery count. (38:38-39). The court found Mr. Odom ineligible for the Substance Abuse and Challenge Incarceration Programs, without explanation. (38:39). It also imposed the mandatory DNA surcharges of \$900. (38:36-37).

¹ The circuit court's oral pronouncement regarding whether the sentences for the sexual assault counts were to be concurrent with or consecutive to each other was somewhat unclear; however, the court's intent was to make these sentences concurrent with each other. (28:12-13). The circuit court agreed that this was its intent after Mr. Odom raised this issue in his original postconviction motion, and the court ordered that the judgment of conviction be amended accordingly. (29:3; App.157).

Following entry of the judgment of conviction, Mr. Odom filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (20). He filed a postconviction motion seeking plea withdrawal, arguing his pleas were not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered because the circuit court incorrectly advised him that it could find him eligible for the Substance Abuse and Challenge Incarceration Programs if he pled guilty. (28:7-12).

On April 20, 2015, the postconviction court denied the motion in a written order. (29:1-3; App.155-57). The court reasoned that it had simply told Mr. Odom there was a possibility he could be found eligible for early-release prison programming, and Mr. Odom's "claimed reliance on a possibility is not sufficient to warrant plea withdrawal." (29:2; App.156) (emphasis in original).

In so ruling, the court distinguished a number of cases alleged misadvice about other involving collateral consequences of a plea. (29:2-3; App.156-57). Those other collateral consequences included the requirement to register as a sex offender, State v. (Charles) Brown, 2004 WI App 179, 276 Wis. 2d 559, 687 N.W.2d 543; the possibility of being subject to Chapter 980 proceedings and commitment, id.; the possibility of deportation, State v. Rodriguez, 221 Wis. 2d 487, 585 N.W.2d 701 (Ct. App. 1998); the waiver of the right to appellate review, State v. Riekkoff, 112 Wis. 2d 119, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983); and the loss of the right to possess a firearm, State v. Kohlkoff, No.2012AP1144-CR, unpublished slip op. (WI App Feb. 14, 2013). (App.165-69).

The postconviction court explained that these cases were all "concerned with negative legal repercussions for the defendant, or unfortunate legal consequences that flowed from the conviction." (29:2-3; App.156-57). According to the postconviction court, "[a] misunderstanding about an early release program does not constitute a similar negative legal collateral consequence occurring beyond the service of the sentence." (29:3; App.157). On that basis, the circuit court denied Mr. Odom's postconviction motion for plea withdrawal. (29:2-3; App.156-57).

Shortly after the postconviction court issued its denial of Mr. Odom's postconviction motion, the court of appeals issued its decision in *State v. Radaj*, 2015 WI App 50, 363 Wis. 2d 633, 866 N.W.2d 758. In *Radaj*, the court of appeals held that the new mandatory DNA surcharge is a punishment that violates ex post facto law as applied to a defendant who committed multiple felonies prior to the effective date of the amended statute mandating the surcharge. *Id.*, ¶¶14, 35. As a result of this decision, Mr. Odom requested permission to file a supplemental postconviction for plea withdrawal on new grounds, which the court of appeals granted. (41).

Mr. Odom filed a supplemental postconviction motion requesting an evidentiary hearing and plea withdrawal, arguing his pleas were not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered because the circuit court failed to establish that he understood he faced a mandatory \$900 in DNA surcharges as a result of his pleas. (44). Mr. Odom asserted that under *Radaj*, the surcharges were part of the range of punishments he faced, and therefore the circuit court was required to establish his understanding of the surcharges, pursuant to *Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246. (44:3-7).

On November 17, 2015, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom denied Mr. Odom's supplemental postconviction motion in a written order. (54; App.148). The postconviction court concluded Mr. Odom was not entitled to a hearing under **Bangert**, describing his reading of **Radaj** as "overbroad." (54:3; App.150). It noted Mr. Odom had relied exclusively on **Radaj** to support his contention that the DNA surcharges were punitive, but that the court of appeals had carefully circumscribed **Radaj** such that the decision applied only to defendants who had committed offenses before the new DNA surcharge statute took effect. (54:5; App.152). The postconviction court reasoned that although the surcharge may have a punitive effect in some cases, the surcharge "is not a direct consequence of a guilty or no contest plea." (54:6; App.153).

In reaching this conclusion, the postconviction court relied on the court of appeals' then-recent, post-*Radaj* decision in *State v. Scruggs*, 2015 WI App 88, 365 Wis. 2d 568, 872 N.W.2d 146, which held "that the DNA surcharge is not a punishment" as applied to a defendant with a single conviction. (54:5-6; App.152-53). The postconviction court concluded that because the DNA surcharges were not a punishment as applied to a defendant with a single conviction, Mr. Odom's surcharges were merely a collateral consequence of a plea with punitive effect in some cases, not a direct punishment. (54:6-7; App.153-54).

Mr. Odom appealed the denial of his original and supplemental postconviction motions for plea withdrawal. (52). On November 9, 2016, the court of appeals certified this this Court for review. (State v. case to Odom. No.2015AP2525-CR, certification by Wisconsin Court of Appeals)(Wis. Ct. Nov. 9, App. 2016)(hereinafter "Certification 1")(App.129-47). The court of appeals asked whether the imposition of multiple DNA surcharges constituted "potential punishment" under WIS. STAT. § 971.08(1)(a) such that a court's failure to advise a defendant about them before accepting his or her plea establishes a prima facie showing that the defendant's plea was unknowing, involuntary, and unintelligent. (Certification 1 at p.1; App.129).

On January 9, 2017, this Court refused the certification. The court of appeals subsequently ordered that Mr. Odom's appeal be held in abeyance pending this Court's resolution of *Scruggs*. This Court issued an opinion in *State v. Scruggs*, 2017 WI 15, 373 Wis. 2d 312, 891 N.W.2d 786 on February 23, 2017, affirming the court of appeals.

Then, on June 28, 2017, the court of appeals again certified this case to this Court. State v. Odom, No.2015AP2525-CR, certification by Wisconsin Court of Appeals)(Wis. Ct. App. June 28, 2017)(hereinafter "Certification 2") (App.101-28). This time, the court of appeals asked how to decide the question previouslydescribed in its first certification: specifically, is the intenteffects test, as applied to expost facto claims in *Radaj* and Scruggs, the same analysis that was applied to a plea withdrawal claim in State v. Bollig, 2000 WI 6, 232 Wis. 2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199? (Certification 2 at p.1-2; App.101-102). The court of appeals further wondered whether, if the analysis used in *Radaj* and *Scruggs* is the same as that used in **Bollig**, **Radaj** should be overruled in light of this Court's recent decision in *Scruggs*. (Certification 2 at p.2; App.102). Lastly, the certification explained the court of appeals' belief that Mr. Odom's second argument, regarding the circuit court's affirmative misadvice about early-release programming, was properly denied. (Certification 2 at p.28; App.128). On September 12, 2017, this Court granted certification and accepted for review all issues raised before the court of appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Odom is Entitled to an Evidentiary Hearing Because He Was Not Advised During His Plea Hearing of the Mandatory DNA Surcharges That Were Part of His Sentence.

The Law on Withdrawing a Guilty Plea

In *Bangert*, this Court established a two-step process to determine whether a defendant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered a guilty or no contest plea. 131 Wis. 2d 246. To make a prima facie case for plea withdrawal, the defendant must show that the circuit court accepted the pleas without conformance to the requirements of WIS. STAT.

§ 971.08 or performing other mandatory duties necessary to ensuring that the plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Id. at 274. The defendant must also allege that he "in fact did not know or understand the information which should have been provided at the plea hearing." Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 274. Once the defendant makes a prima facie case, the burden then shifts to the State to prove at an evidentiary hearing, by clear and convincing evidence, that the defendant's pleas were knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered despite the inadequacy of the record at the plea hearing. *Id.* If the State fails to meet its burden at the evidentiary **Bangert** hearing, the defendant is entitled to withdraw his or her plea as a matter of right. State v. Finley, 2016 WI 63, ¶92, 370 Wis. 2d 402, 882 N.W.2d 761.

Failure to Advise of a Potential Punishment

In *State v. (James E.) Brown*, this Court enumerated the circuit court's mandatory duties when accepting a defendant's guilty or no contest plea. 2006 WI 100, ¶35, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. Among other duties, the court must establish that the defendant understands the range of punishments to which he is subject by the entry of his plea. *Id.* The general practice in this regard is to advise the defendant of the minimum and maximum penalties associated with a plea. *State v. Chamblis*, 2015 WI 53, ¶24, 362 Wis. 2d 370, 864 N.W.2d 806.

Thus, a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent plea requires that a defendant be made aware of the potential punishment he or she faces before entering a guilty or no contest plea. Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(a); *State v. Bollig*, 232 Wis. 2d 561, ¶16. In this case, Mr. Odom asserts that the imposition of multiple DNA surcharges constitutes a "potential punishment" under WIS. STAT. § 971.08(1)(a) such that the circuit court's failure to advise Mr. Odom about them before accepting his plea establishes a prima facie showing that his plea was unknowing, involuntary, and unintelligent. Therefore, Mr. Odom is entitled to a hearing on his plea withdrawal claim.

In its certification, the court of appeals identified the threshold question in this case: what constitutes punishment for plea withdrawal purposes under *Bangert*? (Certification 2 at p.8; App.108). In addition, the certification grappled with the appropriate test to use to determine whether something is a penalty under *Bangert*. (Certification 2 at p.1, 14; App.101, 114). In a thorough overview, the court of appeals considered the types of analyses previously applied by this Court, and by other federal and state courts, in determining whether a ramification of conviction constitutes punishment for plea withdrawal purposes. (Certification 2 at p.8-22; App.108-122).

The Intent-Effects Test

A major focus of the court of appeals' certification was the intent-effects test, which was used in *Radaj* and *Scruggs*, and, as the court of appeals noted, is most commonly seen in ex post facto and double jeopardy case law. However, the intent-effects test has been applied, explicitly and implicitly, in other contexts as well.² Indeed, it makes sense to apply the same test here.

² See State v. Ward, 869 P.2d 1062 (Wash. 1994)(adopting the intent-effects test and concluding the sex offender registry is not punitive, and not a direct consequence of the plea); *Kaiser v. State*, 641 N.W.2d 900 (Minn. 2002)(using the *Mendoza-Martinez* factors to conclude the sex offender registry was a collateral consequence of the plea because it was not punitive); *Commonwealth v. Leidig*, 850 A.2d 743 (Pa. 2004)(applying intent-effects test and concluding sex offender registration was not punishment); *Bell v. Wolfish*, 441 U.S. 520 (1979)(considering whether pretrial detention is punishment for purposes of constitutional due process analysis); *United States v. Ward*, 448 U.S. 242 (1980)(considering whether a penalty was a criminal punishment, implicating Fifth Amendment protection against compulsory self-incrimination).

The intent-effects test evaluates whether a particular alleged punishment is criminal or civil by considering the legislature's intent. If the intent was to impose a civil nonpunitive regulatory scheme rather than to punish, then the court determines whether the sanctions imposed by the law are so punitive either in purpose or effect that they transform what was clearly intended as a civil remedy into a criminal penalty. *Radaj*, ¶13-14. The United States Supreme Court, in Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez, 372 U.S. 144 (1963), delineated seven "nonexhaustive" and "nondispositive" factors to consider when determining whether a law with a punitive effect constitutes punishment. The court looks at whether the law (1) imposes an affirmative disability or restraint, (2) has historically been considered a punishment, (3) has a scienter requirement, (4) serves the traditional aims of punishment, (5) applies to behavior that was already a crime, (6) has an alternative purpose, and (7) is excessive in relation to the alternative purpose.

Previous Use of Intent-Effects Test in Cases Following the 2014 Amendment to the DNA Surcharge Statute

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