In the Supreme Court of Wishweldonsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

TYDIS TRINARD ODOM, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

On Appeal From The Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Timothy G. Dugan, Presiding, Case No. 2014CF950

RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

LUKE N. BERG
Deputy Solicitor General
Counsel of Record

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 bergln@doj.state.wi.us (608) 266-3056

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

Finally, limiting "potential punishment" to the length of imprisonment and any specified fine is a clear, simple, and workable rule. Bright-line rules are generally "helpful," *In re*

⁴ At least one state supreme court has adopted a similar rule, holding that "[i]n general, . . . a defendant must be informed of those consequences which affect the range of possible sentences or periods of incarceration for each charge and the amount of any fine to be imposed as a part of a sentence." *Nebraska v. Schneider*, 640 N.W.2d 8, 13 (Neb. 2002). A survey of other state cases is not particularly helpful, for, as the Court of Appeals found, the "analyses [] run the gamut." App. 119–22 (surveying cases).

Matthew D., 2016 WI 35, ¶ 25, 368 Wis. 2d 170, 880 N.W.2d 107, and especially so when they need to be applied repeatedly and quickly. Circuit courts process an enormous number of pleas each year. In 2016 alone, of the 107,772 criminal cases "[d]isposed," 79,713 (74%) were "[p]led [b]efore [t]rial." Wisconsin Court System, Disposition Summary by Disposing Official, Court Statewide Report 11 (2016),https://goo.gl/HCUgJi. Of the 39,171 felony cases, 27,383 (70%) were pled before trial. Wisconsin Court System, Felony Disposition Summary by Disposing Court Official, Statewide Report 12A (2016), https://goo.gl/hy6hSX. To process this volume of pleas effectively, circuit courts need to know exactly what to include in the plea colloquy without having to apply an ad hoc, seven-factor test, as Odom urges. See Opening Br. 11–12, 14–16. To give just one category of examples, Wisconsin imposes various surcharges in addition to the DNA surcharge, including the "Crime victim and witness assistance surcharge," Wis. Stat. § 973.045, the "Child pornography surcharge," id. § 973.042, the "Drug offender diversion surcharge," id. § 973.043, the "Crime prevention funding board surcharge," id. § 973.0455, and "Domestic abuse surcharges," id. § 973.055. By adopting a bright-line rule for "potential punishment," this Court would "eliminate [any] confusion" from having to apply an indeterminate test to each of these, with potential differing outcomes depending on the surcharge or facts of the case. See Blum v. 1st Auto &

Cas. Ins. Co., 2010 WI 78, ¶ 53, 326 Wis. 2d 729, 786 N.W.2d 78.

2. Alternatively, This Court Should Adopt A "Fundamental Purpose" Test

If this Court were to reject the bright-line rule proposed above, it should adopt a "fundamental purpose" test to determine whether an ancillary effect is "potential punishment" for plea purposes. *See* App. 108–10; Muldrow Br. 14–20; *accord Trop v. Dulles*, 356 U.S. 86, 96 (1958) ("In deciding whether or not a law is penal, this Court has generally based its determination upon the purpose of the statute.").

Under this test, a "sentencing provision" is not "potential punishment" if the "fundamental purpose" of the provision (that is, the Legislature's intent) is nonpunitive, even if the provision has secondary punitive purposes or punitive effects. Dugan, 193 Wis. 2d at 620 (emphasis added); Trop, 356 U.S. at 96. The "fundamental purpose" of a sentencing provision is a question of "legislative intent," Dugan, 193 Wis. 2d at 621, which courts determine primarily by examining the "plain meaning" and statutory context of the sentencing provision at issue, id. at 620–21; accord State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

Applying this test in *Dugan*, the Court of Appeals concluded that restitution was not punishment because its "fundamental purpose" was "rehabilitation of the offender."

193 Wis. 2d at 620–21. The court reached this conclusion after noting that the Legislature did not include the restitution statute in the "Penalties" subchapter of chapter 939, and that the "plain meaning" of "restitution" did "not have a punitive ring." Id. at 621. The court was unconcerned that the restitution statute used the word "penalty" in its text, since this simply showed that restitution "can," secondarily, "work a punitive effect." Id. at 620; $see\ also\ Bollig$, 2000 WI 6, ¶¶ 20–26 (considering primarily the intent of sex-offender registration and mentioning its effects only briefly).

Adopting a "fundamental purpose" test accords proper The power of delineating deference to the Legislature. punishment for criminal activity belongs to the Legislature, see Shumate, 107 Wis. 2d at 466, thus the question of "what ispunishment"—and therefore what is "potential punishment" for plea purposes—must ultimately be a question of the "legislative intent" behind a statute. Dugan, 193 Wis. 2d at 620. And to "ascertain[]" that intent, this Court looks primarily to "the statutory language" and statutory structure. Kalal, 2004 WI 58, \P 43–44, 46; see Dugan, 193 Wis. 2d at 620.

Adopting the "fundamental purpose" test here retains much of the administrability and predictability of the bright-line rule proposed above, since courts regularly determine legislative intent according to the approach explained in *Kalal* and mirrored in *Dugan*. But the test does not retain *all* the advantages of the bright-line rule, since it still requires

courts to engage in this inquiry rather than simply looking to whether the sentencing provision at issue affects the length of imprisonment or has been identified by the Legislature as a criminal fine. *See supra* pp. 21–22.

3. This Court Should Not Import The Intent-Effects Test Into This Context

The Ex Post Facto Clauses of the Federal and Wisconsin Constitutions prohibit the State from increasing the "punishment for a crime after its commission." Scruggs, 2017 WI 15, ¶ 14 (citation omitted); U.S. Const. art. I, § 9, cl. 3; Wis. Const. art. I, § 12. To "determine whether a statute is punitive for ex post facto purposes," this Court applies the two-part "intent-effects' test" from Hudson v. United States, 522 U.S. 93 (1997). Scruggs, 2017 WI 15, ¶ 16. This test also answers a "threshold question" for the Double Jeopardy Clause. In re Commitment of Rachel, 2002 WI 81, \P 22, 38, 254 Wis. 2d 215, 647 N.W.2d 762; see Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84, 97 (2003). Under the "intent-effects" test, this Court first considers whether the "legislative intent of [a statute] was to impose punishment"; if so, the "law is considered punitive and [the] inquiry ends." Scruggs, 2017 WI 15, ¶ 16. If a law does not have a punitive intent, the Court then considers "whether [the] statute is [nevertheless] punitive in effect," "guided by the seven factors [] set forth in Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez, 372 U.S. 144, 168–69 (1963)." Id. ¶¶ 40–41 (listing factors).

Odom argues that this Court should apply the ex post facto "intent-effects" test to decide what is "punishment" for purposes of the plea-colloquy warnings required by Section 971.08(1)(a). He is wrong for multiple reasons.

First, there are very different constitutional concerns at stake, suggesting that the tests should be different. See App. 118. Both the Ex Post Facto and Double Jeopardy Clauses operate as checks against the State, preventing it from imposing punishment retroactively, see Scruggs, 2017 WI 15, ¶ 14, or imposing "multiple punishments for the same offense," State v. Steinhardt, 2017 WI 62, ¶ 13, 375 Wis. 2d 712, 896 N.W.2d 700 (citation omitted). In the plea context, however, the constitutional concern is not focused on the State's misuse of its authority, but on the defendant and whether his plea is "knowing, intelligent, and voluntary." Bradshaw, 545 U.S. at 183; Haslam, 833 F.3d at 844. So while the intent-effects test may be "flexib[le]" and "designed to apply in various constitutional contexts," Opening Br. 14 (quoting *Smith*, 538 U.S. at 97), it does not make sense in *this* context.

Second, applying the indeterminate intent-effects test "has the potential to cause [significant] confusion." App. 143. This case is a prime example. Prior to this Court's decision in *Scruggs*, the Court of Appeals had held that, under the intent-effects test, a single DNA surcharge is nonpunitive, while multiple DNA surcharges are punitive. If these holdings were incorporated into the plea-colloquy context, courts would have

to explain DNA surcharges to defendants who "plead[] to multiple counts," but not to defendants who "plead[] only to one count." App. 143. And this is just one example of the unpredictable outcomes that can result from the seven-factor intent-effects test. Oddities like this may be manageable in ex post facto and double-jeopardy doctrine, where relatively few cases arise (given that a defendant must specifically raise a constitutional argument under those provisions, as well as the "threshold question" of punishment, *In re Commitment of Rachel*, 2002 WI 81, ¶ 22), but would be challenging for defining plea-colloquy requirements, given that circuit courts process almost 80,000 pleas each year. *Supra* p. 22.

Finally, it appears that no federal court has applied the "intent-effects" test when deciding whether a plea was made "voluntarily" in awareness of all "direct consequences." Odom does not cite any such federal case, Opening Br. 11–22, the Court of Appeals' survey of "other jurisdictions" did not find any, App. 119–22, and the State has not been able to locate any in an independent search. Odom and the Court of Appeals identify a few state cases that do apply the intent-effects test in the plea-colloquy context, see Opening Br. 11 n.2; App. 119–20 & nn. 8–9, but the Court of Appeals also found contrary examples that "explicitly rejected" the test, App. 121–22; supra p. 21 n.4, and noted a "hodgepodge of [other] analyses that run the gamut," App. 119.

C. This Court Should Hold That Traditional Harmless-Error Analysis Applies To Plea-Colloquy Errors

This Court on multiple occasions has rejected pleawithdrawal claims—without holding a Bangert hearing—for "small deviations" or "insubstantial defects" in the plea colloguy. Cross, 2010 WI 70, ¶¶ 30–40; Taylor, 2013 WI 34, ¶¶ 27–54; Reyes Fuerte, 2017 WI 104, ¶¶ 37–41. In Taylor, 2013 WI 34, this Court held that such "insubstantial" errors are to be measured against the "manifest injustice" and "knowing, intelligent, and voluntary" standards, rather than the traditional harmless-error doctrine. *Id.* ¶¶ 39–41, 44–47, & n.11. Where the "record makes clear" that, despite an error in the colloquy, a plea "was entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily" and there is no "manifest injustice" to correct, a plea can be upheld without holding a Bangert hearing. Id. ¶¶ 42–43, 55. Based on a concession from the State, this Court also held that the traditional "harmless error doctrine [does] not apply" to "alleged violation[s] of Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or other court-mandated dut[ies] during the plea colloquy." Taylor, 2013 WI 34, ¶¶ 40–41 & nn.10–11; see also App. 142 n.5.

This Court's recent decision in *State v. Reyes Fuerte*, 2017 WI 104, implicitly overruled *Taylor*'s rejection of traditional harmless-error analysis for plea-colloquy defects. *Reyes Fuerte* held that Wisconsin's harmless-error statute, Wis. Stat. § 971.26, *does* "apply to" any defects in the plea-

colloguy warning required by Section 971.08(1)(c) (related to the immigration consequences of pleading guilty). 2017 WI 104, ¶ 4. Although Reyes Fuerte specifically addressed errors in the immigration warnings required by Subsection (1)(c), the Court's textual analysis of Section 971.26's scope applies equally to all subsections of Section 971.08. After all, this Court concluded as a matter of "statutory interpretation" that "sections 971.08 and 971.26" "must be construed together" because they are "closely related" and appear "in the same chapter." *Id.* ¶¶ 26–28. And Section 971.26 provides, without any exceptions, that "[n]o indictment, information, complaint or warrant shall be invalid, nor shall the trial, judgment or other proceedings be affected by reason of any defect or imperfection in matters of form which do not prejudice the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 971.26. Given that the "mandatory ... command[]" of Section 971.26 "appl[ies] to" Section 971.08, see Reyes Fuerte, 2017 WI 104, $\P\P$ 4, 23, then it applies to Subsections (1)(a) ("potential punishment" warnings) and (1)(c) (immigration warnings) alike.

If anything, there is an even stronger textual case for applying traditional harmless-error doctrine to defects in the "potential punishment" warnings under Subsection (1)(a). Section 971.08 contains a specific remedy provision for defects in the immigration warnings under Subsection (1)(c), instructing that the court "shall . . . permit the defendant to withdraw the plea." Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2). This Court held that the harmless-error statute nevertheless applies because

"both statutes use mandatory language with seemingly contradictory commands," and the two "must be construed together." Reyes Fuerte, 2017 WI 104, ¶¶ 23, 28. There is no similar remedy provision for defects in the "potential punishment" warnings under Subsection (1)(a), so there is no inherent "conflict" to resolve. Id. ¶ 29.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' suggestion in its first certification order, see App. 142 n.5, nothing in this Court's decision in State v. Cross, 2010 WI 70, forecloses adopting harmless-error analysis in the plea context. Cross simply "withdr[e]w [] language" from a Court of Appeals opinion "which requires the defendant to show that he would have pled differently had he known the correct [information]." 2010 WI 70, ¶ 40 (emphasis added). Under traditional harmless-error doctrine, "the State would bear the burden," State v. Lepsch, 2017 WI 27, ¶ 46, 374 Wis. 2d 98, 892 N.W.2d 682 (emphasis added), of establishing that there is no "reasonable probability that the error contributed to the outcome," Thompson, 2012 WI 90, ¶ 85. Applied to pleacolloquy errors, the harmless-error standard "naturally should focus on whether" the State has proven that "the defendant's knowledge and comprehension of the full and correct information would [not] have been likely to affect his willingness to plead guilty." United States v. Stoller, 827 F.3d 591, 597–98 (7th Cir. 2016) (citation omitted).

Finally, by holding that traditional harmless-error analysis applies to plea-colloquy defects, this Court would

align itself with the federal courts. As this Court noted in Reyes Fuerte, "[i]mperfect plea colloquies in federal courts are subject to harmless error analysis" under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(h). 2017 WI 104, ¶ 35. Federal courts apply harmless-error analysis even to plea-colloquy defects relating to the potential penalties. E.g., Dansberry, 801 F.3d at 867–69 (misinforming the defendant that the mandatory minimum sentence was 20 years, rather than 26 years, was harmless); United States v. Westcott, 159 F.3d 107, 111–14 (2d Cir. 1998) (court overstating the maximum possible sentence); see United States v. Davila, 569 U.S. 597, 598 (2013) ("Rule 11(h) . . . calls for across-the-board application of the harmless-error prescription").

II. The Circuit Court's Omission Of DNA Surcharges From The Plea Colloquy Does Not Warrant Withdrawal Of Odom's Plea

Odom argues that DNA surcharges are "punishment" under Section 971.08(1)(a), and because the circuit court did not mention them during the plea colloquy, he is entitled to a *Bangert* hearing where the State will have the burden to prove that his plea was nevertheless "voluntary." Opening Br. 9–24. This argument fails because DNA surcharges are not "punishment" under Section 971.08(1)(a), and therefore a court does not need to mention them during the plea colloquy. But even if DNA surcharges are "punishment," the failure to mention them was harmless or otherwise too insubstantial to warrant plea withdrawal.

A. In *State v. Scruggs*, this Court held that a single DNA surcharge is "[not] punitive in either intent or effect" for purposes of the Ex Post Facto Clause. 2017 WI 15, ¶ 50. Prior to Scruggs, the Court of Appeals had held that imposing multiple DNA surcharges (one per conviction, as required by statute), is "punitive for ex post facto purposes." Radaj, 2015 WI App 50, ¶¶ 12, 35. Odom now argues that the test for "punishment" under Section 971.08(1)(a) is the same as the "intent-effects" test applied in Scruggs and Radaj, Opening Br. 11–17, and because the circuit court imposed multiple DNA surcharges, Radaj controls and the surcharges were "punishment," requiring his awareness of them for his plea to be "voluntary," Opening Br. 17-19. As discussed above, there are three different approaches for defining the term "punishment" for purposes of Section 971.08(1)(a). The DNA surcharge is not "punishment" no matter which of those approaches this Court selects, meaning that the circuit court's failure to inform Odom about these surcharges does not warrant a *Bangert* hearing.

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